**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Honorable Melody L James, Commissioner
W.C.C. File No 1122484

Appellate Case No. 2014-002070

RECEIVED
DEC 15 2014
SC Court of Appeals

William W. Huggins, Jr.....Respondent,

v

City of Mullins and South Carolina Municipal Trust.. . . . Respondents,

Rakesh Chokshi, M.D. Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT



Carl E. Pierce, II (S.C. Bar No. 7946)
Benjamin C. Smoot, II (S.C. Bar No 101372)
Pierce, Hens, Sloan & Wilson, LLC
321 East Bay Street (29401)
PO Box 22437 (29413)
Charleston, South Carolina 29413
(843) 722-7733
carlpierce@phswlaw.com
bensmoot@phswlaw.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE COMMISSION ERR IN DETERMINING THAT A TREATING PHYSICIAN'S DEPOSITION IS SUBJECT TO THE FEE SCHEDULE REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE CASE IS ADMITTED BY AN EMPLOYER?

- II. IF THE PHYSICIAN'S SERVICES HAVE NOT BEEN AUTHORIZED, IS THE PHYSICIAN ENTITLED TO ESTABLISH AND ENFORCE HIS OWN REASONABLE FEE FOR HIS DEPOSITION AS AN EXPERT UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of medical evaluation and treatment Rakesh Chokshi M.D. ("Appellant") provided to Respondent William W. Huggins, Jr. ("Claimant") on October 28, 2011 and November 20, 2011. Over a year and a half later, on August 23, 2013, Respondent City of Mullins and South Carolina Municipal Insurance Trust ("Employer") filed a motion to compel Appellant to provide his deposition pursuant to the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission 2010 Medical Services Provider Manual Fee Schedule ("Fee Schedule") and accept a fixed fee to offer testimony pertaining to Claimant's injuries in this workers' compensation case. Employer never authorized Appellant's treatment of Claimant. Appellant was first made aware that his treatment of Claimant was associated with a workers' compensation claim on or about January 18, 2013 when Claimant issued a questionnaire to Appellant pertaining to his injuries. Appellant completed the questionnaire. At all times, Appellant received payment for his services to Claimant under Claimant's private insurance policy.

Thereafter, Employer sought Appellant's deposition to cross-examine him with regard to the completed questionnaire without authorizing Appellant's services to Claimant. Employer directed that Appellant's deposition would be compensated \$400.00 for the first hour and \$100.00 for each quarter hour thereafter pursuant to fixed fees in

accordance with the Fee Schedule. In advance of the deposition, Appellant communicated to Employer that his fees for the deposition were accurately reflected in his standard deposition invoice because Appellant's services had not been authorized by Employer under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act ("the Act").

Under the 2010 Medical Services Provider Manual ("Provider Manual") the Fee Schedule allows for a physician's deposition to be compensated by individual consideration outside of the fixed fees offered by Employer. In determining payment by individual consideration, the Medical Services Provider Manual requires a payer to consider the prevailing charges for similar services. Appellant's fees for his deposition are commensurate with fees charged by physicians for their depositions. The fee is \$1,000.00 for the first hour and \$500.00 for each hour thereafter. Employer refused to take Appellant's deposition in accordance with Appellant's fees and the deposition was cancelled. Employer filed the motion to compel Appellant's deposition pursuant to the Fee Schedule that is the subject of this appeal on August 23, 2013.

Because Appellant was not authorized by Employer or the Commission to perform any service under the jurisdiction of the Workers' Compensation Act ("the Act"), Appellant respectfully requests that this Court find the commission erred as a matter of law and reverse the Full Commission's Decision and Order finding that Appellant is bound to the fees mandated by Employer under the Fee Schedule. Appellant is entitled to a reasonable fee as set forth in his standard deposition fee invoice under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

FACTS

Appellant appeals the Decision and Order of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission ("Commission") dated September 3, 2014 affirming the

Decision and Order of Commissioner Andrea C. Roche dated January 27, 2014 granting Employer's Motion to Compel Appellant to provide his deposition pursuant to the Fee Schedule in this matter and its sister case, *Chris Chapman v Georgia Pacific, Self-Insured Employer*, W.C.C. File No. 1209379, Appellate Case No 2014-002069

Claimant sustained a work-related accident on September 19, 2011 causing injury to his lower back and neck. On October 28, 2011 and November 20, 2011 Appellant treated Claimant at Pee Dee Orthopaedic Associates in Florence, South Carolina. Claimant was admitted, registered, and treated by Appellant under Claimant's private insurance policy. Throughout the course of Appellant's treatment of Claimant, it was never disclosed to Appellant or to his office that Appellant's treatment of the Claimant was related to an injury compensable under the Act. Claimant was referred to Appellant by Claimant's family care provider.

On or about January 18, 2013, Claimant issued a questionnaire to Appellant requesting that Appellant complete it in regard to Claimant's injuries. The questionnaire was used by Claimant for purposes of an APA Submission. In or around July 26, 2013 Employer contacted Appellant's office to confirm Appellant's deposition date to examine him with respect to Claimant's injuries. Because Employer refused to authorize Appellant's services and his treatment of Claimant, Appellant informed Employer that the fee for Appellant's deposition was \$1,000.00 for the first hour and \$500.00 for each hour thereafter in accordance with Appellant's standard deposition fee invoice. The fees proffered by Employer pursuant to the Fee Schedule were \$400.00 for the first hour and \$100.00 for each quarter hour thereafter. For an eight hour deposition, the difference between these fees is only \$1,300.00

Appellant's office explained that if it was later determined that Appellant's services were determined to be compensable under the Act that Appellant would remit payment for his deposition to conform to the fixed fees established in the Fee Schedule for a physician's deposition. Employer responded stating that it would only pay the fixed deposition fees as established in the Fee Schedule for authorized physicians. Because Appellant's services had not been authorized by Employer, Appellant cancelled the deposition upon Employer's refusal to pay Appellant's fee in accordance with his standard deposition fee invoice. Employer filed a motion to compel the deposition on August 23, 2013.

ARGUMENT

THE COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT A TREATING PHYSICIAN'S DEPOSITION IS SUBJECT TO THE FEE SCHEDULE REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE CASE IS ADMITTED BY AN EMPLOYER.

Appellant requests that this Court reverse the Commission's Decision and Order finding that a treating physician's deposition in a workers' compensation case is subject to the Fee Schedule regardless of whether the Employer has authorized and admitted the physician's services. Because Employer never authorized Appellant's treatment of Claimant or entered into a contract with Appellant to compensate him for his medical services under the Act, the fixed fees contained in the Act's Fee Schedule do not control Appellant's compensation for his deposition. Appellant's completion of a questionnaire did not subject him to the jurisdiction of the Act in this case because Employer at all times denied authorization for Appellant's services to Claimant. Appellant had no reasonable expectation that the Fee Schedule would control the fee for his deposition.

A physician's decision to be bound to the Act and its Fee Schedule for their services is voluntary. An employer or insurance carrier cannot refuse to authorize a treating physician's services on the belief that treatment is associated with a non-work related injury.

and then unilaterally bind the physician to fixed fees in the Fee Schedule for the sole purpose of collecting evidence in a workers' compensation case.

Likewise, Employer cannot refuse to authorize Appellant's services for Claimant's treatment under the Act and thereafter bind Appellant to a fixed fee under the Fee Schedule for Appellant's deposition. Appellant's compensation under the Fee Schedule is only proper when he has submitted to be bound by the Act and the employer has authorized his services or when it is determined that Appellant's services are related to a compensable claim in a contested case by the Commission. Until authorization is given or a determination is made, compensation for Appellant's deposition requires individual consideration and payment of a reasonable fee for Appellant's service.

Appellant's deposition is plainly sought to collect medical evidence pertaining to Claimant's injuries. Such testimony requires the special knowledge and skill of a medical expert. As a medical expert called upon to review the circumstances surrounding Claimant's injuries, Appellant is entitled to a reasonable fee for his deposition under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure which govern depositions in a workers' compensation case. Because Appellant's services were not authorized by Employer under the Act, the appropriate fee is reflected in Appellant's standard deposition invoice, not the Fee Schedule.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act sets forth the standard for judicial review of decisions by the Commission. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380; Grant v. Grant Textiles, 327 S.C. 196, 200, 641 S.E.2d 869, 871 (2007), Lark v. Bi-Lo, 276 S.C. 130, 136, 276 S.E.2d 304, 307 (1981). Although the Court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, the Court may

reverse a decision of the Commission if it is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the record as a whole. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380. The Court may find the Commission's findings clearly erroneous if they are based on a mistaken view of the evidence. Grayson v. Carter Rhoad Furniture, 312 S.C. 250, 252, 439 S E.2d 859, 860 (Ct. App. 1993)

I. BECAUSE EMPLOYER NEVER AUTHORIZED APPELLANT'S TREATMENT OF THE CLAIMANT APPELLANT'S COMPENSATION FOR HIS DEPOSITION IS NOT CONTROLLED BY THE FEE SCHEDULE.

Without the authorization of a physician's services by an employer or insurance carrier in a workers' compensation case, the Act and its Fee Schedule do not control compensation for the physician's services including his deposition. The Provider Manual¹ states

Medical Providers must receive authorization from the employer or insurance carrier prior to providing treatment...An employer who authorizes treatment, whether verbally or in writing, enters into a contract with the provider and is responsible for paying for that service, even if it is demonstrated later that the injury was not work-related

Once authorization is given, Title 42 of the South Carolina Code of Laws holds that a physician must provide reports required by the Commission before the physician can collect a fee pursuant to the Fee Schedule:

Attorney fees, physician fees, and hospital charges for services under this title are subject to the approval of the commission, but a physician or hospital may not collect a fee from an employer or insurance carrier until the physician or hospital has made the reports required by the commission in connection with the case

¹ See Ch II, p 7 Payment for services provided by physicians in accordance with the Provider Manual is regulated by 67 S C Code Reg §1302(A)(1) that states "The Commission shall establish maximum allowable payments for medical services provided by medical practitioners based on a relative value scale and a conversion factor set by the Commission. The maximum allowable payments and any policies governing the billing and payment of services provided by medical practitioners shall be published in a medical services provider manual "

S.C Code Ann. § 42-15-90(A). Without authorization from the employer or insurance carrier permitting a physician to provide services, the physician cannot make reports required by the commission in connection with a workers' compensation case and cannot accept payment for his services under the Fee Schedule. The physician is excluded from the workers' compensation claims resolution process.

If a physician submits a Form 14A claim for payment of services to the employer or insurance carrier or completes and returns a Form 14B physician's statement with respect to his services, the physician offers to be bound to the Act's Fee Schedule for compensation of his services.² When the employer or insurance carrier accepts the physician's form, the employer or insurance carrier must authorize the physician's services and is required to compensate the physician in accordance with the Fee Schedule as mandated by the Act. A contract is created between the physician and employer or insurance carrier binding the employer or insurance carrier to compensate the physician for his services pursuant to the Fee Schedule for an efficient resolution of the claim. Although the physician forfeits his ability to establish and enforce his own fees for his services, he enjoys certain payment under a regulated payment policy enforced by the Commission.

When an employer or insurance carrier declines to authorize the physician's services, the employer or insurance carrier denies that the physician has performed any service compensable under the Act. No contract is created between the physician and employer or insurance carrier for certain payment under a regulated payment policy. To the extent the employer or insurance carrier desires to solicit the services of the physician, the physician has retained his ability to establish and enforce his own fees for his services.

² See 67 S C Reg Ann § 1302(B) (Medical practitioners submit claims for payment to the employer or insurance carrier on the Form 14A)

The physician's services are not admitted in a workers' compensation claim. Therefore, the Fee Schedule does not control compensation for those services. See S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-95(A) ("Fee Schedules established through the regulations of the Workers' Compensation Commission shall apply only to claims under Title 42."). If it is established later in a contested case by the Commission that a physician's services were in fact related to a workers' compensation claim, payment for those services under the Fee Schedule is then appropriate.

In this case Employer failed to authorize Appellant's services before Employer attempted to bind Appellant to the Fee Schedule for compensation of his deposition. Appellant did not complete a Form 14A for payment to Employer. Appellant did not complete a Form 14B Physician's Statement. Appellant cannot be forced into the jurisdiction of the Act by virtue of the fact that a patient he treated happened to file a workers' compensation claim. Likewise, Employer cannot unilaterally decide that some of Appellant's services are subject to the Fee Schedule and that other services such as Appellant's actual medical treatment is not. The Act requires that a physician's services be authorized before the physician can receive compensation in accordance with the Fee Schedule. The Commission erred as a matter of law when it affirmed Commissioner Roche's order directing Appellant to give his deposition pursuant to fixed fees in the Fee Schedule because Employer refused to authorize Appellant's services.

A. APPELLANT'S COMPLETION OF A QUESTIONNAIRE DID NOT SUBJECT HIM TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE ACT.

By failing to authorize Appellant's treatment of Claimant after Appellant completed Claimant's questionnaire, Employer elected to refrain from binding Appellant to the Fee Schedule for his services. Appellant's completion of a questionnaire at the

request of the Claimant did not subject him to the jurisdiction of the Act for purposes of controlling compensation for his services because Appellant was compensated by private agreement between the parties. Appellant therefore had no reasonable expectation that future services would be controlled by the Act and its Fee Schedule.

After Appellant's completion of the questionnaire on January 18, 2013 Employer made no attempt to authorize Appellant's treatment of Claimant. No contract between Employer and Appellant existed by which Appellant had voluntarily elected to be bound by the Act and its Fee Schedule or submit reports in conjunction with this workers' compensation case. See S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-90, *supra*; 67 S.C. Code Reg. § 1301(A)³ No attempt was made by Employer to compensate Appellant for the medical services Appellant rendered to Claimant in 2011. By declining to authorize Appellant's services before, during, and after Appellant's completion of the questionnaire from Claimant, Appellant was not subject to the jurisdiction of the Act and its Fee Schedule for compensation of his deposition

B. APPELLANT'S PROPOSED PROCEDURE TO REMIT PAYMENT FOR HIS DEPOSITION PURSUANT TO THE FEE SCHEDULE ONCE A COMPENSABLE CLAIM IS RECOGNIZED IS PROPER.

Absent authorization from an employer for a physician's services under the Act, a physician has the right to consider and enforce his own fees for his services until it is determined that his services were related to treatment in a compensable claim under the Act. The Provider Manual affords compensation for a physician's deposition by individual

³ A medical practitioner or treatment facility shall furnish upon request all medical information relevant to the employee's complaint of injury to the claimant, the employer, the employer's representative, or the Commission. Payment for services rendered may be withheld from any medical practitioner or treatment facility who fails to comply with a request for this information. 67 S.C. Code Reg. § 1301(A)

consideration (IC) under CPT Code No 99074 outside of the fixed fees in the Fee Schedule that establish \$400.00 for the first hour of testimony (CPT Code No. 99072) and \$100.00 for each additional fifteen minutes thereafter (CPT Code No. 99073). CPT Code No. 99074 was adapted for Commission use and compensates testimony by deposition of medical providers under individual consideration. To determine payment by individual consideration, the Provider Manual states

“The payer will pay IC services based upon a review of the submitted documentation, the recommendation of the payer’s medical consultant and/or the payer's review of prevailing charges for similar services.”

Physician’s Independent Medical Evaluations (“IME”) in workers’ compensation cases are also compensated by individual consideration instead of by a fixed fee. Because the Commission recognized that the physician retains the ability to establish his own fee for his services when the physician’s services have not been authorized or admitted by an employer or insurance carrier under the Act, the Commission declined to bind the physician to the Fee Schedule for an independent evaluation.

Similarly, Appellant’s services are much like an independent evaluation in this workers’ compensation case, where, as here, Employer refused to authorize those services. In the event it is determined in a contested case that the injury for which a treating physician’s services were rendered is related to a claim compensable under the Act then the fixed fees in the Fee Schedule must govern the physician’s services. The physician should remit the difference between the fee paid under individual consideration and the fixed fees outlined in the Fee Schedule for a particular service, including a deposition. This is the procedure Appellant proposed to establish with Employer in anticipation of Appellant’s deposition. Employer refused to consent.

Employer maintains that its failure to provide payment for Appellant's deposition pursuant to the fixed fees in the Fee Schedule would constitute a misdemeanor subject to imprisonment under S C. Code Ann. § 42-15-90(B)(2). This contention overlooks the fact that compensation for Appellant's deposition in accordance with Appellant's own reasonable fee is provided for under the Act pursuant to the Provider Manual and Fee Schedule. Appellant's proposed remittance procedure is the proper method for compensating a physician for his services when a physician's services are not authorized by an employer or insurance carrier and the injury treated by the physician has not been deemed compensable under the Act. Employer's fear of imprisonment is misguided.

II. APPELLANT IS ENTITLED TO A REASONABLE FEE FOR HIS DEPOSITION BECAUSE HE IS BEING COMPELLED TO TESTIFY ON MATTERS THAT REQUIRE EXPERT KNOWLEDGE AND PROFESSIONAL MEDICAL SKILL.

Appellant is entitled to establish and enforce a reasonable fee for his deposition under Rule 26, SCRPC until his services have been authorized by the Employer and he has agreed to be bound by the Act and its Fee Schedule for his services. Depositions of witnesses in workers' compensation cases are "taken in accordance with and subject to the same provisions, conditions and restrictions as apply to the taking of like depositions in civil actions at law in the courts of common pleas" S C. Code Ann. § 42-3-160.

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