RECEIVED

FEB 11 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Appellate Panel

W.C.C. File No.: 1122484
Appellate Case No.: 2014-002070

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE FULL COMMISSION APPELLATE PANEL CORRECTLY ORDERED DR. CHOKSHI TO PROVIDE HIS DEPOSITION PURSUANT TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION FEE SCHEDULE OR ALTERNATIVELY, CORRECTLY ORDERED HIM TO GIVE HIS DEPOSITION FOR \$400.00 AN HOUR.

- A. Dr. Chokshi failed to preserve his arguments that (1) only physicians who have been issued a Form 14A are subject to the fee schedule and (2) unauthorized treating physicians should be treated as IME physicians and should be exempt from the fee schedule.

For the first time, Dr. Chokshi argues that in order to be subjected to the fee schedule, a physician must be issued a Form 14A authorizing his services. Additionally, Dr. Chokshi argues for the first time that under the Provider Manual, he should be equated to an independent medical examiner/physician. Neither of these arguments, however, should be considered by this Court because they were never raised to and ruled upon by the Full Commission.

At the Full Commission, Appellant argued that Title 42 was not applicable to him because Title 42 and its fee schedules only apply to "claims under Title 42." Moreover, while Appellant cited the Provider Manual as being applicable to accepted claims, he did not make the same arguments regarding his interpretation of the Provider Manual with its CPT codes, and that under the codes he should be considered equivalent to an independent medical examiner/physician, who he alleges is "exempt" from the fee schedule.

It is axiomatic that for an issue to be considered on appeal, it must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. *Stogsdill v. South Carolina Dept. of Health and Human Services*, 410 S.C. 273, 763 S.E.2d 638 (Ct. App. 2014) (noting that issue was not preserved for appellate review under the APA because it was not raised to and ruled upon by the trial court). *See also Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) ("[A]n issue cannot be raised

for the first time on appeal, but must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.”). Because, the Appellant did not raise these arguments to the SCWCC, they should not be considered by this Court.

- B. The Full Commission Appellate Panel correctly held that Dr. Chokshi was subject to the SCWCC fee schedule for purposes of giving his deposition in the underlying workers’ compensation matter, as Appellant was not an IME physician and was required to give his testimony for the same fee all treating physicians are required to accept.

Even if the Appellant’s new arguments are considered, they must be rejected. Appellant argues that without authorization by an employer via a Form 14A, a physician’s services, including the giving of a deposition, are not controlled by the fee schedule. This argument is erroneous.

Appellant wants to paint the issue as one where the issue of authorized treatment is the equivalent to the issue of whether the fee schedule is applicable to a physician’s deposition where the physician has injected himself into a workers’ compensation claim. These issues cannot be resolving by using such logic.

As support for his proposition he is not bound by the fee schedule, Dr. Chokshi cites South Carolina Code section 42-15-95(A), which states in relevant part: “Fee schedules established through regulations of the Workers' Compensation Commission shall apply only to claims under Title 42.” S.C. Code § 42-15-95(A) (emphasis added). Assuming that this section provides some guidance regarding the applicability of Title 42 to depositions of medical care providers, this section supports the position that Dr. Chokshi is bound by the fee schedule. As noted above, Title 42’s fee schedule applies to claims under Title 42. Thus, the only question the Full Commission needed to concern itself with was this: *has a claim been made by an employee pursuant to Title 42 for compensation to a body part for which Dr. Chokshi rendered care?* The answer is

undeniably “yes” because the claimant in this matter had a pending claim seeking compensation for a neck injury for which Dr. Chokshi treated him.

In South Carolina, words in a statute are given their plain, ordinary meaning. “When interpreting a statute, our primary role is to ascertain the intent of the legislature.” *State v. Johnson*, 343 S.C. 693, 695, 541 S.E.2d 855, 857 (Ct. App. 2001). When a statute’s language is plain and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the appellate court will not look for or impose another meaning. *State v. Jihad*, 342 S.C. 138, 142, 536 S.E.2d 79, 81 (Ct. App. 2000); *see also Adkins v. Varn*, 312 S.C. 188, 191, 439 S.E.2d 822, 824 (1993) (noting when the statute contains terms which are clear and unambiguous, the court must apply those terms according to their literal meaning).

The word “claim” is defined as “to say that something is true, even though there is no definite proof” or “to say that someone's actions are the cause of something, especially in a court of law.” South Carolina Code section 42-15-95(A) does not state that only admitted claims are governed by Title 42, but rather any “claim” made by an employee is governed by Title 42. Title 42 specifically gives employers and carriers the right to deny claims made by their employees for numerous reasons set forth within the Title. It would be absurd to say that admitted claims are governed by one set of rules while denied claims are governed by an entirely different set of unwritten rules. Title 42 makes no such distinction.

Dr. Chokshi’s position is further undermined by the next subsection in S.C. Code § 42-15-95. Subsection B states in relevant part that a “health care provider who provides examination or treatment for any injury, disease, or condition *for which compensation is sought under the provisions of this title* may discuss or communicate an employee's medical history” S.C. Code § 42-15-95(B). Again, had the legislature only intended Title 42 to cover those cases in

which compensation was admitted, it could have easily said so. Rather, the legislature recognized that merely seeking compensation or filing a claim is what invokes the rights, remedies, and requirements of Title 42.

Dr. Chokshi goes on to assert that where an employer denies the claim or does not authorize the medical practitioner's medical services, the employer denies that a claimant has a compensable claim under Title 42. Dr. Chokshi continues to confuse the fact that there must be "a claim" with the idea that the "claim" must be compensable in the first instance for Title 42 to apply. The SCWCC jurisdiction is not so limited. For example, when a claim is denied by an employer as not being compensable, it does not provide the employee a right to file suit in circuit court. Rather, the claim is still governed by, and must be proved to be compensable or not, under the jurisdiction of the SCWCC under Title 42 and its attendant regulations. Under Dr. Chokshi's theory, the SCWCC's jurisdiction as established by Title 42 is limited to only those claims admitted to be compensable. Dr. Chokshi cites no authority for such a limited reading of Title 42, as no such authority exists.

Dr. Chokshi also attempts to portray this case as one involving a contract between an employer and a medical care provider, but fails to recognize that the underlying basis for this alleged "contract" are the statutory provisions which he agrees to be bound by when his care or treatment involves an employee *who asserts a claim under Title 42*. The fee schedule is not a negotiated contract between the employer and the health care provider but one which is uniform and set by the Commission to apply to all "claims" asserted by an employee. Dr. Chokshi's efforts to make this a matter of contract fly in the face of the fact that these provisions are statutorily mandated. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the SCWCC decision that Dr. Chokshi is bound by the SCWCC fee schedule or that his fee in any regard was appropriate.

Appellant also asserts that it is proper for him to be compensated as if he had performed an Independent Medical Exam (“IME”), citing CPT Code 99074 of the Special Reports and Services section of the schedule. Code 99074 states: “Testimony by deposition, all other providers.” The fee for this is designated IC, individual consideration. Code 99072 states: “Testimony by deposition, physician.” The fee for this is \$400.00. Appellant argues that IMEs are specifically exempted from the fee schedule limitation by virtue of Code 99074. Appellant, however, cites nothing for this proposition. Respondents do not concede this point but note that the SCWCC has previously indicated that physicians who *perform IMEs* are not bound by the fee schedule in conducting their examination.¹ However, counsel for the Respondents has always paid an IME physician \$400.00 for his deposition testimony pursuant to the fee schedule under Code 99072 because IME physicians are, in fact, physicians and governed by that provision. Respondents contend that Code 99074 applies to other providers who are not physicians, i.e. physical therapists, speech therapists, vocational experts, nurse practitioners, etc. Regardless, Appellant’s argument does not change the result because the Appellant is not an IME physician in any event.

In an IME, the examiner is independent and must “arrive at his/her own diagnosis and opinions, independently of the referring source, remuneration, other’s opinions, or personal bias. The [e]xaminer is a medical professional, who is not involved in the claimant’s care. IMEs are [m]edical evaluations. They involve the essential elements of a medical assessment, including history, [e]xamination, and review of relevant records and applicable diagnostic studies. Usually, but not always, a physical examination is performed. If there is no physical exam component,

¹ This is believed to be as a result of the lack of physicians willing to do IMEs, as they typically involved extensive medical record review (not compensated under the fee schedule for normal physicians) and a lengthy physical exam of a claimant well in excess of what a typical doctor performs.

sometimes the term Independent Medical (Record) Review is used.”² “The history in an IME is more comprehensive than the conventional history obtained by a treating physician [and] includes a comprehensive review of prior medical records, occupational and socioeconomic history, in addition to the usual subjective history of present illness. Records available for review to the IME examiner are usually more complete than those available to the treating physician.”³ An “IME needs to provide a complete, comprehensive, and objective description of the examinee’s condition at that time, in the context of prior health, physical and vocational capabilities, and social functioning. In contrast, the treating physician’s evaluations are based on multiple, shorter encounters over the course of time. Unlike the medical consultation that ends only with treatment recommendations, the IME is broader in scope. Often, the IME will answer specific questions posed by the referring source. Referring sources include insurers, attorneys, and others involved in the management of workers’ compensation, personal injury, disability cases, and other similar issues.”⁴

There is no question that Dr. Chokshi did not perform an IME. Based upon what is expected of an IME examiner and an IME report, it only makes sense that an IME physician is exempted from the confines of a fee schedule, as the IME physician is not treating the claimant in an admitted or denied claim. Dr. Chokshi’s efforts to equate a deposition by a physician who treats a patient and offers opinions in a denied workers’ compensation case fails because the role of a treating physician in an admitted or denied case is the same, whereas the role by an IME physician is vastly different.

² “Standards for Independent Medical Examinations” American Medical Association, “The Guides Newsletter” November/December 2005 ed.

³ Id.

⁴ Id.

Even if Dr. Chokshi were correct in arguing he is not bound by the fee schedule due to the fact IME physicians are exempt, there was no error in compelling him to give his deposition at \$400.00 an hour. Under the fee schedule, it states that the “payer will pay IC services based upon a review of the submitted documentation of the payer’s medical consultant and/or the payer’s review of prevailing charges for similar services.” Thus, even the fee schedule recognizes that IC services may be limited to those of the prevailing charges for similar services. Assuming *arguendo* the Appellant is correct that he is not bound by the fee schedule, the same of which is denied, there is nothing erroneous about the SCWCC’s decision to limit him to \$400.00 per hour as those would be the prevailing charges for similar services—deposition testimony by a *treating physician* of a claimant—exactly what Dr. Chokshi was in this case. It is only logical therefore, that the prevailing charges for deposition testimony by a treating physician in admitted and denied cases (\$400.00) would be a fair and reasonable rate as ordered by the SCWCC. The SCWCC always has the discretion to set what constitutes a reasonable fee for a deposition, as does any court, even where there is a disagreement, even under Rule 26, SCRPC.

- C. Dr. Chokshi waived any right or is estopped to allege he was not aware he would be bound by the fee schedule because he knew his deposition was sought in response to an alleged workers’ compensation claim.

Dr. Chokshi further alleges that he was never put on notice that his deposition would be controlled by the fee schedule. Dr. Chokshi asserts that because he was treating the claimant under his group health insurance, the appropriate fee would be a “reasonable fee” as established between the parties under Rule 26, SCRPC. This position is untenable.

On or about January 18, 2013, the claimant issued a questionnaire to Dr. Chokshi, asking that he complete it with regards to the claimant’s back and neck problems. Dr. Chokshi’s completed the questionnaire regarding the back and neck problems. A second questionnaire was

completed by Dr. Chokshi on May 16, 2013. In this questionnaire, Dr. Chokshi opined that the claimant's neck injury was caused by the September 19, 2011, work-related incident. This questionnaire was submitted by the claimant to support his workers' compensation claim. In fact, Commissioner Barden found the claim compensable, though that issue is currently on appeal to the Full Commission.

The fact that Dr. Chokshi may not have realized that *his treatment* of claimant was being done in connection with an alleged workers' compensation injury is irrelevant. Dr. Chokshi became subject to the fee schedule under the SCWCC when the claimant and his attorney alleged that Dr. Chokshi's treatment of the claimant was causally related to the claimant's work-related injury, and Dr. Chokshi chose to attempt to both causally relate the injury to claimant's workers' compensation claim and give an impairment rating that he knew was sought in connection to the workers' compensation proceeding. It is the claimant's workers' compensation claim under which Dr. Chokshi was subpoenaed and under which his testimony was sought. The SCWCC is the only forum from which a subpoena could be issued and in which Dr. Chokshi could be compelled to provide testimony. Thus, it is illogical to say that the deposition does not fall under the rules of Title 42 and the SCWCC.

Moreover, even if there were some doubt as to whether Dr. Chokshi was subject to the jurisdiction of the SCWCC merely because the claimant alleged the injury was work related, such doubts were resolved when Dr. Chokshi voluntarily inserted himself into the workers' compensation case. Prior to his deposition being scheduled, Dr. Chokshi chose to fill out and return two questionnaires from claimant's counsel, all related to claimant's alleged workers' compensation claim and relating the injuries to the initial injury.

Just because the employer did not decide at that point to accept the claim and authorize Dr. Chokshi's services did not negate the fact that Dr. Chokshi became subject to the fee schedule due to his own actions and waived any right to argue that his deposition was not subject to the fee schedule because his treatment had not been paid for by an employer under a workers' compensation claim. Had Dr. Chokshi wished to avoid being deposed pursuant to the SCWCC fee schedule, he should have simply refused to complete the Form 14B, refused to fill out any questionnaires, and refused to give any opinions related to the claimant and his workers' compensation claim. There would have then been nothing to depose him about.

D. If Dr. Chokshi is not subject to the SCWCC fee schedule, he is limited to the witness fee set forth under Rule 30, SCRCP, or \$25.00 per day.

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